STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ASHLEY PRICE TINDALL, III

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000808

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 31 2018
SC Court of Appeals

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the 911 call placed by Teresa Escoffier where it contained inadmissible hearsay, contained inadmissible character evidence, and any probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the defense presented evidence of Petitioner's character so as to "open the door" to an attack on Petitioner's character during the prosecution's cross-examination of him?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in granting the prosecution's request to treat Sara Tindall, Appellant's wife, as a hostile witness when the State called her as a witness in their case in chief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 12, 2016, the Charleston County Grand Jury returned indictments against Appellant Ashley Tindall for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 554.

Following the grant of the defense's motion for mistrial on March 20, 2017, Tindall appeared for trial again before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury on March 21-23, 2017. Tindall was represented by Michael Loignon and Martha Runey, and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Alexandra Ginsburg and David Osborne. R. 1-3; R. 17 – 34; R. 35 – 36.

The jury convicted Tindall on both counts, finding that the State had met its burden of disproving self-defense. R. 539 – 540. Judge Couch sentenced Tindall to concurrent terms of six years for ABHAN, suspended upon the service of thirty months followed by three years of probation, and five years for the weapons offense. R. 552 – 553; R. 558 – 559.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges against Appellant Tindall related to an alleged assault against neighbor Richard “Rick” Hilding. Hilding had introduced himself to Tindall when he first moved into the area, but the two men had little interaction with each other beyond that until the night of July 4, 2014. R. 221, ll. 5-20; R. 436, ll. 20 – 437, l. 6. Tindall admitted that he struck Hilding in the head with a trimming hammer, which resulted in a four centimeter cut that required four staples to the top of Hilding’s head. R. 226, ll. 6-8; R. 248, ll. 7 – 250, l. 8; R. 323, ll. 20-25; R. 427, ll. 1-7; R. 439, ll. 7-16. However, Tindall presented evidence that he acted in self-defense.

Earlier in the evening, Tindall was expecting his wife, Sara Tindall (hereinafter “Sara”), to return home from neighbors Teresa and Bob Escoffier’s pig roast at eight o’clock. Tindall did not want to go to the party because he knew there would be alcohol and he had been sober for twenty-five years. At approximately 8:30 p.m., he went next door to look for Sara and found her playing a game of pool. Tindall returned home, but when Sara was still not home twenty minutes later, he went back to the party and asked to speak with her. R. 409, l. 15 – 416, l. 2; see also R. 160, l. 2 – 162, l. 23. He raised his voice and said “that’s bull shit” when Sara gave him the excuse he had heard in the past, that time got away from her. Teresa Escoffier, Sara’s best friend, called for her husband, Bob. Tindall thought Bob was going to hit him and stuck a “stiff hand” out, knocking Bob in the chin. Bob tripped over his dog and fell to the ground. Intimidated by the group of partygoers coming toward him and seeking a means to get away, Tindall said “Y’all want something? Okay. I got something for you. I’ll be right back.” Tindall then returned to his trailer and got the keys to his truck. R. 83, ll. 18-22; R. 90, ll. 2-9; R. 163, ll. 2-25; R. 432, ll. 7-17; R. 416, l. 3 – 419, l. 15.

Tindall was backing out of his driveway, heading to get dinner, when he saw Sara coming around the front of their trailer toward the passenger side of his truck. Tindall rolled down the windows and Sara asked him where he was going. In the midst of their "heated discussion," Tindall noticed Hilding approaching the driver's side of the truck. R. 163, l. 20 – 164, l. 18; R. 422, l. 17 – 424, l. 7; R. 435, ll. 2-16. Thinking that Hilding was going to punch him, Tindall got out of his truck to face him. He described Hilding as belligerent and drunk. Hilding told Tindall: "Hey, we're having a good time over here, you need to stop, we're not going to have no fights." R. 424, ll. 8-20; R. 435, l. 17 – 436, l. 11. Tindall responded: "Look, this doesn't concern you, this is me and my wife, you need to go back to where you came from." R. 164, l. 19 – 166, l. 7; R. 424, ll. 20-22. Tindall put his arm out to prevent Hilding from getting close enough to land a punch. Hilding fell down three times, but continued to get back up and advance toward Tindall. Hilding then grabbed Sara and wrapped his arms around her, trying to drag her away from the area. Tindall asked: "Do you realize you've got your arms wrapped around my wife?" and separated the two. R. 166, l. 8 – 170, l. 4; R. 424, l. 23 – 425, l. 25; R. 437, ll. 11-18.

Hilding told Tindall that if he hit him again, he would "fucking kill [him]" and grabbed Tindall around the upper torso. R. 170, l. 5 – 171, l. 9; r. 426, ll. 3-25. Tindall reached into the back of his truck, got a small trimming hammer, and struck Hilding in the head with the wooden handle of it. Hilding fell to the ground and Tindall heard people rushing their direction, so he got in his truck and drove away. R. 427, ll. 1-13; R. 439, l. 4 – 441, l. 1. Tindall could see that Hilding was still on the ground in the rearview mirror. He was never under Tindall's truck tires, as the entire altercation occurred next to the truck. R. 427, l. 14 – 428, l. 7.

Tindall returned home later that evening and was arrested by police. He admitted that he hid when the police knocked on the door. Tindall explained that while he anticipated that the police would come because of the incident in the Escoffier's yard, he was not prepared to go to jail. He did not think he would be arrested for the incident that occurred in his own yard with Hilding. R. 428, ll. 8-25; R. 441, ll. 11-25.

Sara gave a similar account of the altercation between Tindall and Hilding. She saw Hilding approaching Tindall's truck and told Tindall to "please go." Instead, Tindall got out of his truck and they exchanged words. After several attempts to charge Tindall, Hilding put his arms around Sarah and pulled her in toward him. Tindall untangled Sara and pushed the two apart, after which Hilding threatened Tindall and charged toward him. R. 145, l. 7 – 151, l. 15; R. 165, l. 17 – 171, l. 2. She saw Hilding fall to the ground and hold his head. She later heard varying reports from the neighbors about what Tindall used to hit Hilding, including a bat, a gun, and nunchucks. Sara did not see the implement used herself, but she knew that it was not a gun because Tindall did not own a handgun and a bat would have been large enough for her to see. The men who had been back by the oak tree started to approach them, so she told Tindall that he better go. She confirmed that Hilding was not near, much less under, the truck when Tindall pulled away. R. 151, l. 16 – 154, l. 2; R. 171, ll. 2-9; R. 173 l. 19 – 175, l. 19.

On the ride to the police station on the night of July 4, 2014, Deputy Jeffrey Phillips responded to Tindall's question about what Hilding said occurred. Tindall told deputy Phillips: "I am a fat old man. I don't use nunchucks. I used my fists to beat him with." R. 320, l. 1 – 321, l. 8. On July 6, 2014, deputy Phillips went back to Tindall's home in response to a telephone call from Tindall. Tindall provided a written statement, in which he admitted that he used a trimming hammer. R. 321, ll. 9-18; R. 323, l. 20 – 324, l. 5.

Other witnesses gave varied accounts of the events of the evening and the incident between Tindall and Hilding. Hilding was at the Escoffier's house during the disturbance involving Tindall. He claimed that he went through the easement to go home to check on his dog and saw Tindall and Sara arguing on the side of the road. Hilding told Tindall to calm down and that 911 had been called. Hilding said that as he was approaching the truck, he saw a hand go up and flash of light, then woke up in the Escoffier's backyard. He denied being drunk and said that he never touched Tindall or Sara. R. 215, l. 5 – 225, l. 7; R. 233, l. 13 – 236, l. 18. However, Hilding reported consuming a six-pack of beer to the paramedics who responded to the scene and the treating physician in the emergency room recalled that Hilding smelled of alcohol. R. 250, l. 23 – 251, l. 1; R. 256, ll. 1-8; R. 375, ll. 6-18.

The other witnesses who purportedly had some view of the incident between Tindall and Hilding included Dennis Bell, Chris Hilding, and Daniel Moore. Dennis Bell¹ was visiting his sister, who lived across from Tindall, on the night of the incident. He recalled sitting on the tailgate of his truck in her driveway when he heard a man and women, presumably Tindall and Sara, arguing. R. 380, l. 23 – 381, l. 18; R. 382, l. 20 – 383, l. 10. Bell went halfway up the driveway to get a better look and saw a group of people from the party next door approaching Tindall and start arguing with him. Bell was afraid there “might be trouble for” Tindall when “everybody [came] up on him.” A couple of minutes later Bell heard “a couple pops,” which could have been firecrackers, and then saw a man who was bleeding walk away with the help of a couple of people. Then the police and ambulance arrived. R. 383, l. 11 – 385, l. 21; R. 393, ll. 18-25. Bell did not actually see Tindall hit Hilding or what precipitated the hit. R. 391, l. 3 – 393, l. 13; R. 394, l. 14 – 395, l. 1.

¹ Bell attended school with Tindall but had not seen him in over thirty years. He did not recognize Tindall on the night of the incident. R. 380, ll. 11-22; R. 383, l. 24 – 384, l. 1.

Hilding's son, Chris, followed the men who were running over to the Tindall's property. Though he could not hear what Hilding or Tindall said, Chris claimed that his father was trying to calm things down when Tindall struck him. R. 192, l. 5 – 200, l. 5; R. 203, ll. 2-13; R. 206, l. 2 – 209, l. 1. Chris could not see what was used to strike Hilding. R. 198, ll. 18-20; R. 209, ll. 2-5.

Daniel Moore was one of the men who went toward to the Tindall property with Hilding. He recalled Hilding saying to the other men at the party, "what are we, mice or men?" and admitted that the men went to Tindall's house to insure that Tindall did not come back. R. 285, l. 23 – 287, l. 24; R. 298, l. 11 – 299, l. 2. Hilding conveniently did not recall such a comment, which would have been inconsistent with his claim that he headed in the direction of Tindall's house because he was on his way to his own home to check on his dog. See R. 234, ll. 12-16; R. 218, ll. 7-17; R. 219, ll. 2-6. Moore heard Tindall and Sara arguing and then saw Tindall's truck begin backing up. According to Moore, Tindall had a pistol drawn when got out of the truck. He warned Rick "he has a gun" but Hilding approached Tindall anyway. Moore claimed that Tindall pushed Hilding's arm, which led Hilding to grab Tindall's arm. Tindall then hit Hilding in the head with what Moore believed was the butt of a gun and the two began "tussling." R. 288, l. 8 – 291, l. 2; R. 306, ll. 4-15. Moore went to break up the fight, at which time Tindall allegedly pointed the gun at Moore before getting into his truck and driving away. R. 291, l. 3 – 292, l. 16. Moore admitted that the only mention of a gun in his written statement referred to the blow to Hilding, with no mention of a gun being pointed at him. R. 301, l. 4 – 302, l. 4. Moore did not recall Tindall ever pulling the trigger on the gun. R. 302, ll. 2-9.

Moore's sister, Dana Bradwell, was not present during the actual confrontation between Tindall and Hilding. Bradwell maintained that she could hear the supposedly distinctive sound

of metal hitting bone from the Escoffier's front yard, causing her to run over to Tindall's property. R. 268, l. 18 – 270, l. 2. She claimed that she arrived to see Rick on the ground and Tindall putting a gun in her brother's face. She further averred that Tindall pulled the trigger twice but the gun failed to fire. Notably, Bradwell did not provide any of this information to the prosecution until a few months prior to trial. R. 270, l. 3 – 273, l. 10; R. 277, l. 13 – 278, l. 21. Deputy Phillips did not recover any gun and concluded that the witnesses were uncertain about the type of weapon that was used to strike Hilding. Only one of them, Moore, had provided a statement claiming that he saw Tindall with a handgun. R. 341, l. 24 – 343, l. 23.

The indictment for possession of weapon during the commission of a violent crime specified that Tindall “did possess a firearm or did visibly display what appeared to be a firearm or did visibly display a knife.” R. 557; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490. The jury received an additional instruction on this in response to their request for clarification on whether the offense was “limited to a knife or gun only.” R. 534, l. 24 – 537, l. 18.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in admitting the 911 call placed by Teresa Escoffier where it contained inadmissible hearsay, contained inadmissible character evidence, and any probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues.

Relevant Facts

Teresa Escoffier (hereinafter “Teresa”) placed a 911 call on the night of the incident, a partially redacted copy of which was admitted into evidence. State’s Ex. 7 (911 call, on file with this Court). The defense’s objection to the admission of the 911 call was not rooted in the Confrontation Clause, but rather that the content of the call violated the rules against hearsay, improper character evidence, and evidence that is unfairly prejudicial and confuses the issues. See Rules 403, 404, and 802, SCRE. The trial judge erred in ruling that the call was admissible under the following hearsay exceptions: present sense impression, excited utterance, then existing mental state or physical condition, and regularly kept record of government or business. Rule 803, SCRE. He also erred in ruling that the probative value outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice or confusion. Rule 403, SCRE.

The prosecution made a pre-trial motion *in limine* to admit evidence of the first incident between Tindall and Bob Escoffier and the 911 call, arguing the *re gestae* theory. R. 6, l. 5 – 9, l. 16; R. 11, l. 7 – 12, l. 16; R. 15, ll. 4-23. Defense counsel conceded that some evidence regarding the prior incident, for which Tindall was not on trial, was proper to provide context to the incident involving Hilding. However, he argued that the prosecution should be limited in the amount of detail they were allowed to elicit. He argued that the entire 911 call should be excluded because it was not necessary to *res gestae* and its probative value was outweighed by

its prejudicial effect. He noted that the 911 call was placed by someone who did not see the second incident as it occurred. Rather, Teresa was relaying information she received from other individuals. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 25; R. 12, l. 18 – 15, l. 1. The trial judge ruled:

All right. And as the evidence has been described to me, if presented that way at trial, it would be my finding that the *res gestae* exception would apply in this case. Because of the continuous nature of the event, it appears the closeness in space -- they were all in the same area, neighborhood, I'd say, and then on the street in front of the houses -- I do find that it also would serve to identify the Defendant because he was involved in an argument with his wife on the premises and on the street. And it happened so quickly, I mean, from what [has] been described to me.

So, if that's the way the evidence bears out, then I'm not going to exclude it. I'll allow it.

...

I do find that the probative value you get with those factors would outweigh the prejudicial effect.

R. 15, l. 24 – 16, l. 16.

Following a mistrial the day prior, when the new trial began on March 21, 2017, the trial judge said that his earlier pre-trial rulings would stand. R. 41, l. 10-13. Because the State's publication of an improperly redacted 911 call to the jury necessitated the prior mistrial, the prosecutor placed on the record that the parties had agreed to certain redactions to the recording but that the defense was not stipulating to admission of the call. Defense counsel confirmed that he would renew his objections to the admission of the call when it was offered. R. 60, l. 12 – 61, l. 11. Even with the partial redactions, the recording still included statements regarding the prior incident between Tindall and Bob Escoffier, alleging that Tindall assaulted her husband by punching him and grabbed and threatened Teresa's pregnant daughter. Teresa also made several statements regarding Sara Tindall, including: "Sara can't go back home. He's going to beat the shit out of her"; "He might kill his wife right now"; "Oh my God he's gonna kill his wife"; "He hit Sara, he did hit his wife"; "They said his wife was hit. I don't know what kind of shape she is

in.”; and “I can’t believe he hit Sara.” Teresa is also heard asking an unknown person “Sara needs medical attention too?” Throughout the call Teresa repeatedly said, referring to Tindall: “He’s gonna kill somebody”; “He’s flipped out”; and “He has lost it.” Though she did not observe the incident in the Tindall’s yard, Teresa reported: “Oh my God, now he beat up my neighbor”; “He’s knocking the shit out of old people.”; and “He already the neighbor in the face with his gun.” She is also overheard telling an unknown person that the operator wants her to talk to “the guy who was pistol whipped” and saying “I can’t believe he hit you with a gun.” Though Teresa eventually admitted to the operator that she had not seen any gun herself, she repeatedly told the operator “he has a gun” and said “he has all kinds of guns; he’s crazy.” State’s Ex. 7 (911 call, on file with this Court).

When the prosecutor moved to admit the redacted recording of the 911 call during the testimony of Teresa Escoffier, the defense argued that the entire 911 call should be excluded because its contents included hearsay, improper character evidence, prejudicial and confusing. Defense counsel further renewed his argument from the day prior that the call was not necessary under the *res gestae* theory. R. 106, l. 18 – 108, l. 24. He also argued that any description of events taking place outside of the speaker’s presence on Still Life Drive were inadmissible hearsay and that references to Tindall’s owning lots of guns and being crazy were inadmissible character evidence. R. 108, l. 25 – 109, l. 9.

The prosecution argued that the placement of the 911 call was why Hilding approached Tindall, countered the defense’s theory that the neighbors were conspiring against him, and provided evidence of the weapons offense. R. 109, ll. 11-22. Regarding hearsay, she argued that its contents were admissible as “excited utterance, present sense impression and business record.” R. 110, ll. 8-12. Defense counsel reiterated his argument that the witness was relaying

an account of events that she admittedly did not perceive herself. R. 110, ll. 14-18; R. 111, l. 19 – 112, l. 10. The trial judge agreed with the prosecution’s responsive argument that the rule did not require the speaker to have perceived the event. R. 112, l. 11 – 113, l. 7. Thus, he ruled that the 911 call was admissible “under... those three hearsay exceptions, and as a regularly kept record.” R. 113, ll. 7-10. He further ruled that the probative value outweighed any prejudice, finding that the call evidenced the speaker’s concern and “identifies who was involved and where they were, and the risk they posed.” R. 113, 13-22.

Discussion

A. No Applicable Hearsay Exception

Hearsay is defined as an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801(c), SCRE. The Rules of Evidence provide that “[h]earsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE.

1. The Present Sense Impression Exception Requires That the Declarant “Personally Perceived” the Event.

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