STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000808

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ASHLEY PRICE TINDALL, III.,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED  
AUG 02 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

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

Any Error in Admitting Hearsay is Harmless

Improperly admitted hearsay which is merely cumulative to other evidence may be viewed as harmless. State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978). Mrs. Escoffier, Mr. Escoffier, Rick Hilding, Chris Hilding, Dana Bradwell, and Daniel Moore all testified in a manner wholly cumulative to the information in the 911 call. While the 911 call supplied critical context regarding what was occurring in the scene, the substance of Mrs. Escoffier's call all came in through State's witnesses at trial as well. As such, any error in the earlier introduction of the 911 recording proves harmless because it was cumulative.

B. Character Evidence

Appellant contends the 911 recording contained statements constituting inadmissible character evidence. Specifically, Appellant avers Mrs. Escoffier's statements that, "he has a gun," and "he has all kinds of guns; he's crazy," constituted propensity evidence. See State's Exhibit 7 (911 Call). This argument lacks merit. The 911 call was introduced for the purpose of showing the *res gestae* and providing the full context of the events on the evening of Appellant's attack.

Rule 404(a), SCRE, states, "Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion."<sup>6</sup> The single, isolated statement in the 911 call that Appellant was crazy and owned "all kinds of guns" was not introduced to show Appellant's propensity to act in that manner. Rather, the 911

---

<sup>6</sup> The Rule goes on to provide several exceptions to the general prohibition on character evidence generally. See Rule 404(a)(1) to (a)(3), SCRE.

tape was necessary to provide an accurate portrayal of the hysteria at scene at the time Appellant assaulted Hilding and Mr. Escoffier. The 911 tape was thus not introduced for the purpose of proving Appellant acted in conformity with a particular character trait.

C. The 911 Tape's Probative Value Was Not Substantially Outweighed by Unfair Prejudice

Finally, Appellant argues any admissible portions of the 911 call should have been excluded because the probative value of its content was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues. Even if relevant, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is **substantially outweighed** by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”). The determination of the probative value of evidence relative to its potential prejudicial effect must be based on the entire record and the result generally hinges on the facts of each particular case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

Probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence's tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case. State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012), rev'd on other grounds, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). Meanwhile, unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); see Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 181 (1997) (“The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.”).

However, unfair prejudice does **not** mean damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of a piece of evidence. State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998). That is true because all evidence introduced by the State in a criminal trial is meant to be prejudicial to the defendant, and it is only unfair prejudice that must be avoided. Id.

When ruling on the comparative probative value and potential prejudicial effect of evidence, trial judges have "particularly wide discretion[.]" Collins, 398 S.C. at 209, 727 S.E.2d at 757. As a result, a trial judge's ruling on such a matter should be afforded great deference on appeal and should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 339-340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, "[a] trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence." State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-94 (Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 594.

In Appellant's case, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting the recording of Mrs. Escoffier's 911 call. As was noted by the solicitor, the recording provided the jury a clear picture of the underlying events in this case and gave them the full context of the situation, thus giving the evidence an exceptionally high probative value. The recording was admissible as part of the *res gestae*, as it provided an account of the underlying conflict between Appellant and the attendees of the Escoffier's party and provided a live account of Appellant's assault. Any prejudice to Appellant stems from the evidence's substantial probative value and

did not suggest a decision on an improper basis. While Appellant claims the tape was prejudicial because some of Mrs. Escoffier statements were “speculative,” that speculation was readily apparent to the jury and Defense Counsel had the ability to cross-examine Mrs. Escoffier regarding some of her statements being speculative or without foundation. Further, the live testimony of all of the witnesses from the party provided a clear narrative to the jury as to what exactly happened. The trial judge therefore properly concluded the evidence’s probative value was not substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice.

D. Harmless Error

In any event, even assuming the trial judge erred in admitting the 911 tape, Appellant did not suffer the requisite prejudice to require a new trial. Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008); see also State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012) (“Engaging in this harmless error analysis, we note that our jurisprudence requires us not to question whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.”). Any error with respect to the admission of the 911 call was harmless because it could not have reasonably affected the verdict. The recording, while enormously helpful with providing context of the dispute and providing a contemporaneous account of the assault, was not a critical piece of the State’s evidence. The State presented the same testimony through Mr. and Mrs. Escoffier, Rick and Chris Hilding, Dana Bradwell, and Daniel Moore. Since the same information was presented to the jury through the questioning of the aforementioned witnesses, Appellant could not reasonably have been prejudiced by the

admission of the 911 recording which presented the same allegations against Appellant. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**Appellant's argument that the trial judge erred in finding Appellant opened the door to questioning about his character is not preserved for review where Appellant did not contemporaneously object when the solicitor asked the question. Error preservation concerns aside, the trial judge properly allowed the solicitor to inquire as to whether Appellant physically abused his wife where Defense Counsel's presentation of character evidence intended to portray Appellant's family life in a positive light opened the door to such an inquiry; further, any error is harmless where Appellant as not prejudiced in any way by the question because he answered in the negative.**

### Relevant Facts

In his opening statement, Defense Counsel stated, "Now, I'm not here to tell you that Ashley Tindall is going to win husband of the year, but he's a family man. He lives for his wife and kids. He's a grandfather. And you'll hear from his wife, Sara, about their relationship. . . . She'll tell you that she loves her husband. R. p. 71. During cross-examination of Mrs. Tindall, Defense Counsel asked a series of questions intended to paint an idyllic view of her and Appellant's marriage, asking:

Defense Counsel: Tell me a little but about your everyday routine when you get up in the morning.

S. Tindall: When I get up in the morning?

Defense Counsel: Yes.

S. Tindall: I get up, get dressed, get ready for work, go to work.

Defense Counsel: And around what time is that?

S. Tindall: I have to be to work at seven in the morning so I get up about 5:45 to get ready.

Defense Counsel: You up by yourself?

S. Tindall: No. My husband gets up with me.

Defense Counsel: Why does he do?

S. Tindall: He just gets up, watches a little bit of the news, waits for me to leave and walks me to the door.

Defense Counsel: He walks you to the door?

S. Tindall: Yeah, every morning.

Defense Counsel: Sees you off to work?

S. Tindall: Yes, sir.

R. p. 159. Similarly, Defense Counsel subsequently asked:

Defense Counsel: So, let's jump back to just a typical day. Removing ourselves from the 4th of July got just a moment. You generally eat dinner together as a family?

S. Tindall: Yes, sir.

Defense Counsel: And do you generally prepare dinner as a family?

S. Tindall: Yes, sir. We usually either cook together, or he'll cook.

Defense Counsel: And do you sit down and eat dinner together as a family?

S. Tindall: Yes, sir.

Defense Counsel: So, that's something that's a normal part of your day?

S. Tindall: Yes, sir.

Defense Counsel: Back to the 4th of July. You mention that you had an agreement to have dinner at eight?

S. Tindall: To be home at eight.

Defense Counsel: To cook dinner?

S. Tindall: To have - - he was going to take me out to dinner.

R. pp. 160-61.

After the State closed its case-in-chief, the solicitor stated:

I think that this is probably an appropriate time to bring up something else that has come up during this trial. Normally, I think this is just in an abundance of caution, we have already had one mistrial and we certainly don't want to ask a question to have another. But I do have to point out, during –Defense Counsel's] opening he brought character in. Which is fine, I'm not suggesting that he introduced character evidence at that point, but he certainly set the stage and that caught my ear. And during his cross, which basically was his witness since he had spoken to Ms. Tindall before, he not only opened a door, he ran right through it. And he did it over and over again. I even objected to the leading. And I know that it was not appropriate to try to signal to him, but he kept asking these questions. And some of the ones that I got was the defendant walks Sara to the door every morning, the defendant sees her off to work, the defendant eats dinner with her as a family. They prepare dinner together, they sit down together as a family, you love him, he loves you. All of that is nothing more than character evidence to show that he is a good father and a good husband. He opened that door. If Mr. Tindall takes the stand, I think that we should be able to ask him, you have hit Ms. Tindall before haven't you. That goes directly to show that he's not such a good father and good husband like [Defense Counsel] is stating.

R. pp. 351-52. The solicitor clarified, “we are not seeking to introduce extrinsic evidence to prove. He can deny it and I think that we are stuck with it.” R. pp. 352-53. Defense Counsel countered that the evidence was intended to show that July 4th was a normal day for Appellant and his wife. R. p. 353. Defense Counsel alleged the testimony was to show that the Tindalls have a routine, not to show any specific character trait. R. p. 355. The trial judge replied, “walking her to the door, what does that have to do with the routine about eating?” R. p. 355. The trial judge ruled, “I'll probably allow you to cross-examine him about that issue. It seems to me that the door has been opened.” R. p. 356.

During Defense Counsel's direct examination of Appellant, he asked, “So, tell me about a normal day for you then.” Appellant described making his wife breakfast and stated, “So I try to get up and try to help her, just get her off to work and all. I'll see her to the door every morning, give her a kiss goodbye and tell her I love her. Tell her to please be safe while driving, you know.” R. pp. 406-07. Defense Counsel then asked Appellant what happened in the evenings at

home and Appellant gushed, “We just like to sit down and relax and maybe take in a little bit of television. Just enjoy each other’s company, you know. And just sit and be with each other.” R. p. 408.

Subsequently, during cross-examination of Appellant, the solicitor asked appellant, “Okay. You talked about how you’re a good and loving husband, isn’t that right?” R. p. 432. Appellant replied, “Yes, it is.” R. p. 432.” The solicitor continued, “And that you’ve never hit Sara before, ever.” R. p. 432. Appellant replied, “Absolutely not.” R. p. 432.” The solicitor then asked, “And you’ve never yelled at her; is that right?” Appellant responded, “I’m not saying we’ve never yelled at each other. We are a married couple, we’ve been married for 32 years, and just like any other couple, we do have our little problems here and there.” R. p. 433. Defense Counsel did not contemporaneously object to any of these questions. See R. pp. 432-33.

### **Discussion**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in concluding Defense Counsel “opened the door” to a question by the solicitor regarding his character. Specifically, Appellant avers the trial judge erroneously found the evidence presented portraying Appellant as the quintessential family man allowed the solicitor to inquire whether he ever physically assaulted his wife. As a threshold matter, Appellant’s argument is not preserved for appellate review where Defense Counsel failed to offer a contemporaneous objection to the evidence he now seeks to challenge on appeal. Error preservation concerns aside, the trial judge properly found Appellant “opened the door” to a question by the solicitor about his conduct towards his wife within the home. Finally, any alleged error is harmless where the question and answer did not prejudice Appellant in any way.

Initially, Appellant’s argument is not preserved for appellate review. An *in limine* ruling is not final and contemporaneous objection is required to preserved an issue for appeal. State v.

Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286 (2001). “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). See also State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) (“[M]aking a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence. . . . does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.”). The trial judge made an *in limine* ruling that he would **probably** allow the solicitor to cross-examine Appellant regarding whether he ever abused his wife. It was thus incumbent upon Defense Counsel to offer a contemporaneous objection when the solicitor asked the question and Defense Counsel failed to do so. Appellant’s argument is therefore not preserved for appellate review.<sup>7</sup>

Error preservation concerns notwithstanding, the trial judge properly allowed the solicitor to inquire as to whether Appellant previously abused his wife. As was previously discussed *infra*, Rule 404(a), SCRE provides:

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